# SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM

## DOKTORI ISKOLA

# Ph.D. értekezések

## 2941.

# **BÁRCZI GYÖRGY**

Szív- és érrendszeri betegségek élettana és klinikuma

című program

Programvezető: Dr. Merkely Béla, egyetemi tanár

Témavezetők: Dr. Becker Dávid, egyetemi tanár és

Dr. Oláh Attila, egyetemi tanársegéd

# CLINICAL PRESENTATION OF THE NON-ATHEROSCLEROTIC CORONARY LESIONS. MORPHOLOGICAL EVALUATION OF THE MYOCARDIAL BRIDGE

### PhD thesis

### György Bárczi MD

# DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF THEORETICAL AND TRANSLATIONAL

### MEDICINE

Semmelweis University





Supervisor:

Prof. Dávid Becker, MD, PhD, Attila Oláh, MD, PhD

**Official Reviewers:** 

Viktor Sasi, MD, PhD, Gergely Szabó, MD, PhD Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Prof. Péter Sótonyi, MD, PhD Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Prof. Radovits Tamás, MD, PhD, Charaf Hassan, PhD, DSc

Budapest, 2023

### **Table of Contents:**

List of abbreviations	
1. Introduction	5
1.1.Myocardial bridge: definition, epidemiology	5
1.2.Pathophysiology	6
1.3.Clinical relevance of Myocardial Bridge	7
1.4. Diagnostic tests of Myocardial Bridge	7
1.4.1. Non-invasive assessment	7
1.4.2. Invasive assessment	9
1.5.Therapeutic strategy	13
1.6.Unresolved questions regarding Myocardial Bridge	14
2. Objectives	15
2.1.Aims of our study	. 15
3. Methods	16
3.1. Invasive, morphological study	16
3.2. Non-invasive, CCTA study	. 19
3.3. Statistics	20
4. Results	21
4.1. Results of the invasive, morphological study	21
4.2. Results of the non-invsive, CCTA study	26
4.3. Case I. Ventricular septal rupture caused by myocardial bridge,	
solved by interventional closure device	27
4.4. Case II. Fractional flow reserve guided stenting of a myocardial	
bridge	29
5. Discussion	30
6. Conclusions	35
7. Summary	37
8. References	38
9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	43
9.1. Publications directly related to the dissertation	43
9.2. Publications independent of the dissertation	44
10. Acknowledgements	52

### List of Abbreviations

CABG	Coronary artery bypass graft						
ССТА	Coronary CT angiography						
EF	Ejection fraction						
FFR	Fractional flow reserve						
HR	Hazard ratio						
IVUS	Intravascular ultrasound						
LAD	Left anterior descending artery						
LAD-MB	Left anterior descending artery – Myocardial Bridge						
LAD-MB <sup>neg</sup>	Left anterior descending myocardial bridge without another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group.						
	Left anterior descending myocardial bridge with another						
	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group.						
MB	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging						
MB MRI	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging						
MB MRI OCT	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging Optical coherence tomography						
MB MRI OCT PCI	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging Optical coherence tomography Percutaneous coronary intervention						
MB MRI OCT PCI QCA	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging Optical coherence tomography Percutaneous coronary intervention Quantitative coronary angiography						
MB MRI OCT PCI QCA Qp/Qs	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging Optical coherence tomography Percutaneous coronary intervention Quantitative coronary angiography Pulmonary-systemic flow ratio						
MB MRI OCT PCI QCA Qp/Qs SD	significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. Myocardial Bridging Magnetic resonance imaging Optical coherence tomography Percutaneous coronary intervention Quantitative coronary angiography Pulmonary-systemic flow ratio Standard deviation						

#### **1. Introduction**

#### 1.1. Myocardial bridge: definition, epidemiology

Coronary arteries that could be made visible in vivo mainly run in the epicardial space. If – during ontogenesis - a segment tunnels through the myocardium refer to myocardial bridging (MB). The "bridge" itself is the myocardium that belts completely or partially (incomplete MB) the vessel (Figure 1.). In the case of partial encasement, the vessel courses within a gorge formed by the myocardium while in the case of complete MB the myocardium surrounds the coronary segment. Depending on the imaging method, MB is a frequently detected congenital anomaly. According to a meta-analysis, the prevalence in autopsy reports is 30-55%, evaluated with computed tomography: approximately 22% and with invasive coronary angiography: 5-8% (1). MB involves mainly (82%) the middle segment of the left anterior descending (LAD) with a mean length of 19-20 mm. If the myocardium is hypertrophic (e.g., due to hypertension or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy) the phenomenon might be more pronounced and described more often (2). The dispersion in prevalence is caused not only by the different modalities, but MB itself (and its clinical relevance) may vary in the same subject. For example, in elderly people -as hypertension evolves-, the myocardium becomes hypertrophic and degenerative changes may be more severely expressed, that might result in fibrotic replacement. Although these factors may lead to symptomatic MB as the compression forces increase during systole, overall MB has been considered a benign anomaly, which might remain hidden during lifetime.



**Figure 1.** Schematic figure of a Myocardial Bridge on the left anterior descending (LAD) artery. When the heart is in diastole it allows blood to flow freely through, but when the heart is in systole the myocardial bridge overlying the LAD also contracts, trapping the artery by limiting blood flow Source: https://med.stanford.edu/ctsurgery/clinical-care/adult-cardiac-surgery-services/myocardial-bridge-unroofing.html.

#### 1.2. Pathophysiology

MB is a unique non-atherosclerotic coronary lesion in two aspects. On the one hand it causes dynamic stenosis, compared to other forms like for example vasospasm which is a persistent narrowing of the vessel. Theoretically, most of the coronary flow occurs during systole. So, at rest, when the heart rate is low and there is sufficient time for the artery to fill (the diastole is long enough), the MB might not provoke symptoms. However, during physical effort or mental stress – when the heart rate increases and the diastolic filling time shortens - symptoms can occur. Its pathological relevance is more complex: beyond anatomic features like the MB's length, depth, the surrounding muscle thickness, also other factors could play a role, including concomitant vasospasm, the number of side branches that arise from "tunneled" part, the presence of atherosclerosis, or the micro- and macro-dissections which may occur in a twitching artery (3). Moreover, the compression of epicardial coronary artery might extend into diastolic phase, causing impairment of early diastolic myocardial perfusion, that would aggravate the supply-demand mismatch.

On the other hand, it is considerable that – according to several studies – the affected part is free from atherosclerosis, but the proximal segment from the bridge is

more exposed due to the sheer stress caused by turbulent blood flow (4,5). The prior issue is explained by the lack of epicardial adipose tissue and vasa vasorum here. These pathophysiological factors play an important role in the pathogenesis of coronary artery disease. The epicardial adipose tissue is a source of inflammation's mediators which affect paracrine and endocrine pathways. Proinflammatory nature of epicardial adipose tissue were observed irrespectively of plasma concentrations of circulating biomarkers (6,7). This mechanism is assisted by the lack of vasa vasorum, which forms the passage of inflammatory cells and cytokines from the perivascular adipose tissue. (8). All these factors might contribute to lessening atherosclerosis in bridged segment of coronary vessels.

#### 1.3. Clinical relevance of Myocardial Bridge

The factors above act together with the given patient's clinical characteristics. The age, the concomitant diseases, left ventricular dimensions and function, the actual blood pressure might influence the manifestation of the symptoms (9). Our knowledge about the pathological and prognostic role of MB is still limited, however multiple case reports were published where MBs caused symptoms through myocardial ischemia. These ischemic events are thought to be the result of coronary spasm, thrombosis, coronary dissection, or the development of focal atherosclerosis immediately proximal to the MB. As a clinical consequence of the MB-related ischemia, stable angina pectoris and myocardial infarction, significant arrhythmias (both ventricular and supraventricular) or even sudden cardiac death may occur (10-14). However, in the most cases, symptomless MB has been revealed as a secondary, stochastic finding.

#### 1.4. Diagnostic test of Myocardial Bridge

Although several invasive and non-invasive diagnostic tests are available for diagnosing MB, there is no gold standard test that evaluates every aspect of the bridge.

#### 1.4.1. Non-invasive assessment

MB is most frequently described during coronary angiography or CT which has been performed due to chest pain. As we mentioned before the cardiac CT angiography is a more sensitive modality as the rate of detection of MB has been reported even up to 58%. The diagnostic accuracy of coronary CT angiography has been reported to be comparable with invasive intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) imaging. Although CCTA provides anatomic evidence of bridging it is unable to assess the functional significance of the bridged segments (15). That is why it is much more difficult to demonstrate the causality between the lesion and the symptoms. Ischemia provocation might help to reveal the role of revealed MB. The traditional ECG exercise test is even less sensitive than it is in atherosclerotic coronary artery disease. Proper physical stress or dobutamine stress echocardiography used the most commonly among the available non-invasive assessments to provoke ischemia in the MB related myocardial segments. Assessment of septal longitudinal strain during stress suggests decreased values compared to controls. This mid-septal ischemia might distinct between MB and fixed LAD stenosis (16). Myocardial perfusion imaging also might help to assess the hemodynamic significance of MB by the detection of perfusion defects. In a study 39 patients free from atherosclerotic lesion, with LAD-MB (previously evaluated with coronary angiography) were enrolled. Using myocardial perfusion imaging, 8 patients (20.5%) were found to have perfusion defects in the anterior wall. The difference in the mean systolic narrowing of bridging segments was statistically significant between patients with and without ischemia. However, there was no significant difference either between the mean length of the tunneled artery in patients with and without abnormal perfusion test. In conclusion the incidence of perfusion defects with MB depends on the morphological severity of MB (17). A new approach is the CT-FFR which is already validated – although it was a retrospective comparison -. by perfusion computer tomography. 75 patients (mean age: 62.7 years; 48 males) with LAD-MB and without concomitant obstructive stenosis were included. The change in CT-FFR across myocardial bridging ( $\Delta$ CT-FFR, defined as the difference in CT-FFR values between the proximal and distal ends of the myocardial bridging) in different cardiac phases were measured to study myocardial bridging-related myocardial ischemia using CT myocardial perfusion imaging as the reference standard.  $\Delta$ CT-FFR calculated in the systolic phase) was higher in patients with versus without myocardial bridging-related myocardial ischemia in contrast, ΔCT-FFR calculated in the diastolic phase did not differ significantly.  $\Delta$ CT-FFR systolic had the highest sensitivity: 91.7% and negative predictive value: 97.8%.  $\Delta$ CT-FFR diastolic had the highest specificity: 85.7% for the diagnosis of MB related ischemia. Myocardial bridging showing positive CT-FFR results requires further evaluation. (18). CT-FFR has a high negative predictive value regarding ischemia provoked by LAD-MB, therefore the role to rule-out the hemodynamically significant MB is important.

#### 1.4.2. Invasive assessment

In the last two decades we have been able to perform functional evaluations also in the catheterization laboratory, due to the fast development and spread of technology. These allow dissociation between clinically relevant and non-relevant MBs. The gold standard, classical method is coronary angiogram when we study selectively the anatomical features of concerned segments as the length, the diameter and the maximal thickening in end-systole (narrowing). Indeed, coronary angiography using multiple planes and using the view showing largest systolic narrowing is one of the simplest invasive methods for evaluation of bridging: bridged segment of coronary arteries has 71% to 83% reduction in mean luminal diameter. Although further clinical symptoms or functional assessment should be associated to interpret the results. The use of intracoronary nitroglycerin affects better visualization (19), but on the other hand it can provoke ischemia. The fractional flow reserve (FFR) measurement and the intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) are the most widely used modalities for anatomical and functional assessments. IVUS can be used to assess systolic compression (characteristic echo lucent "half-moon phenomenon") and it is also helpful to detect atherosclerotic plaque in segments proximal to bridge. Although this technique is not capable to gain functional information. During classical FFR measurement we confront the intracoronary pressure distal to the aorta of the lesion during maximal hyperemia (induction of vasodilation by using adenosine). In the case of MB, the generally accepted cutoff FFR value is 0.75 (Pd/Pa), below this value, the thickening should be kept hemodynamically significant. Hakeem and co-authors pointed out that FFR measurement with administering increasing dose of dobutamine could indicate more sensitively the significant lesion (20). This was called ("FFR paradox") which cannot be observed in fixed coronary stenoses. The phenomenon is explained by the positive inotropic effect of dobutamine in the fibers that cover the tunneled segment. Integrating the previous results in another study diastolic-FFR during dobutamine provocation was suggested even more accurate (21). A third workgroup as a synthesis compared the classical adenosine-induced FFR with diastolicFFR during dobutamine provocation (22). In their prospective study 60 symptomatic patients were involved where the systolic compression exceeded 50 per cent diameter stenosis at coronary angiogram. Each patient underwent stress echocardiography and both types of FFR measurements. Of 60 patients, 19 (32%) had a positive exercise test. The traditional FFR showed similar results also with adenosine and dobutamine, but diastolic-FFR revealed a lower threshold at peak dose of dobutamine ( $0.76\pm0.08$  versus  $0.79\pm0.08$ , P=0.018). Furthermore, diastolic-FFR in dobutamine effect showed a significantly lower result in those patients where the reference exercise test was positive compared with exercise test negative persons ( $0.70\pm0.07$  versus  $0.79\pm0.06$ , P<0.001). Among physiological indicators, diastolic-FFR was confirmed as an independent predictor of ischemia with  $\leq 0.76$  cutoff value. During angiography the mean diameter measured in systole was more severe, and the mean lumen diameter was smaller in the exercise positive group. Use of modern techniques (such as iFR) in functional evaluation of MB needs to be validated in further studies.

Diagnostic imaging modalities for MB are summarized in Table 1.

**Table 1.** Diagnostic imaging modalities for evaluation of Myocardial Bridging (MB).Source: Sternheim et al. 2021 (23).

Imaging Modality	Description	Diagnostic Criteria	Advantages	Disadvantages	Functional Information		
Invasive techniques							
Coronary angiography	Selective catheterization of coronary arteries with contrast	Milking effect	-Frequently used anatomic assessment -Quantification of systolic compression	- Invasive - No physiological value	No		
Intravascular ultrasound	Selective with insertion of a probe across the lesion of interest; 3D visualization	Half-moon sign	-Identifies proximal plaque -Quantification of compression, MLA -Identifies remodeling	- No physiological value -Underestimate the length of a bridge if rapid pullback	No		
Optical coherence tomography	Insertion of a fiberoptic probe across the lesion	Fusiform, signal poor border with systolic compression	- Identifies plaques -Identifies neo atherosclerosis -Quantification of MB arc thickness	- High pullback velocity risk misidentifying MB edges - Not widely used	No		
Intracoronary Doppler wire	Selective, insertion of a pressure wire across the lesion of interest	Fingertip sign	-Assessment of microvascular disease - Can simulate dynamic systolic obstruction - Endothelial function testing	-Pharmacotherapy required - Longer procedural time - No standardized cutoffs	Yes		
Fractional flow reserve	Selective, insertion of a pressure wire across the lesion of interest	FFR ≤ 0.75	- Functional evaluation of dynamic lesions - Widely available	<ul> <li>Longer procedural time</li> <li>Pharmacotherapy required</li> <li>Diastolic FFR not commonly accessible</li> </ul>	Yes		
Instantaneous free wave ratio	Selective, insertion of a wire across the lesion of interest	iFR ≤ 0.85	<ul> <li>Diastolic-specific index</li> <li>Functional evaluation of both fixed and dynamic lesions</li> <li>Adenosine not mandatory</li> </ul>	- Longer procedural time	Yes		
CAG = coronary angiography; CT = computed tomography; FFR = fractional flow reserve; iFR = instantaneous free wave ratio; MB = myocardial bridging; MLA = minimal luminal area; MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; OCT = optical coherence tomography; Pd/Pa = Distal coronary pressure/Proximal coronary pressure; 3D = 3-dimensional.							

**Table 1. (continued)**Diagnostic imaging modalities for evaluation of MyocardialBridging (MB).Source: Sternheim et al. 2021 (23).

Imaging Modality	Description	Diagnostic Criteria	Advantages	Disadvantages	Functional Information	
Noninvasive techniques						
Coronary computed tomographic angiography	Contrast-enhanced CT allowing for 3D reconstruction and visualization of the coronary arteries	>1 mm of myocardium overlying the coronary artery defines "any MB" ->2 mm defines "deep MB" - >5 mm defines "very deep MB"	More accurate anatomic assessment compared with CAG. Well validated. Shows atherosclerosis. Sensitive	Over detection of minor MB may lead to unnecessary testing. Relation of symptom severity to depth of MB unclear	Yes	
Computed tomographic fraction flow reserve	Contrast-enhanced CT with computational fluid dynamics to estimate stenosis	FFR <0.75 (Gray Zone 0.75-0.80)	Functional assessment of ischemia at rest	Tested only in patients with proximal MB. Requires contrast.	Yes (experimental)	
Single-photon emission computed tomography	Nuclear imaging test that allows for functional myocardial perfusion imaging	Reversible or segmental perfusion defects during stress	Physiological assessment of functional effect of MB. Readily available	No anatomic value. Low spatial resolution. Radioactive tracer injection	Yes	
Positron emission tomography	Nuclear imaging test that allows for functional and quantitative myocardial perfusion imaging	Reversible or segmental perfusion defects during stress	Physiological assessment of functional effect of MB. Readily available	No anatomic value. Low spatial resolution. Radioactive tracer injection	Yes	
Stress transthoracic echocardiography	Stress imaging using ultrasound enhancing agents to assess for myocardial hypokinesis	Segmental hypokinesis during stress	Physiological assessment of functional effect of MB. Readily available	No anatomic value. Requires ultrasound enhancing agent	Yes	
Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging	MRI imaging to assess for segmental myocardial perfusion defects	Segmental subendocardial perfusion defects during stress	Physiological assessment of functional effect of MB	No anatomic value. Contrast exposure	Yes	
CAG = coronary angiography; CT = computed tomography; FFR = fractional flow reserve; iFR = instantaneous free wave ratio; MB = myocardial bridging; MLA = minimal luminal area; MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; OCT = optical coherence tomography; Pd/Pa = Distal coronary pressure/Proximal coronary pressure; 3D = 3-dimensional.						

#### 1.5. Therapeutic strategy

There are distinct therapeutic strategies for treatment of patients with symptomatic MB. As MB has basically been declared a prognostically benign anomaly, we must always keep in mind the principle "primum non nocere" regarding treatment. It is important to follow up regularly our patient with the revision of symptoms (especially angina pectoris). Concomitant conditions, like coronary artery disease, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, myocardial hypertrophy can affect choice of treatment for these patients. Beta blockers are the first line choice of therapy, which have negative inotropic and negative chronotropic effects (prolongation of the diastolic perfusion). Indeed, beta-blocker therapy provided symptomatic relief in 89% of patients with hemodynamically significant MB (24). Other medications that can decrease heart rate could be an option too, such as non-dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers or ivabradine if beta-blockers are contraindicated or should be complemented. At first sight nitrates seem favorable with their vasodilator effect, however hemodynamic evaluations confirmed that nitrates will increase the percentage diameter stenosis of MB compared to proximal reference diameter (narrowing). More the early diastolic relaxation delays which lead to further ischemia. Except that the reflex tachycardia caused by nitrates could also provoke ischemia (19).

Coronary intervention looks like a good solution as intracoronary stent placement might provide stability against external compression. However, the first results of coronary interventions due to MBs often ended with severe complications such as stent thrombosis (25), coronary perforation (26) or early restenosis (27). Even so, coronary intervention may be attempted in selected cases with refractory angina pectoris (in patients whose are not surgical candidates). Our group published an interventional case with long-term success (28, see later in details).

The surgical approach may be myotomy or surgical revascularization (CABG). Competitive flow is a practical and theoretical consideration against CABG which brings forth early graft occlusion (graft failure). An interesting new technique has been developed, when the LIMA graft is led to the proximal and distal end of the MB. (29). According to the authors, this results in better hemodynamic outcome and longer graft patency. The computer simulation was followed by a successful operation. More data is needed about this possibility. Myotomy (surgical unroofing) can be another option in case of persistent symptoms: performed through median sternotomy and can be done off-pump or with cardiopulmonary bypass. Detailed planning with CT and operator experience are mandatory for such a surgery to avoid possible complications (ventricular injury, vessel perforation, aneurysm formation, bleeding). There is no evidence of survival benefit after unroofing the MB, therefore it should be considered only for relief of angina symptoms (30).

#### 1.6. Unresolved questions regarding Myocardial Bridge

Despite this data, the prognostic factors and the clinical evaluation of MB has remained limited. Key questions remain unresolved and wait for answers:

- How can we model dynamic obstruction? There is a lack of validated mechanical (in vitro) or animal (in vivo) models.
- Can myocardial bridge cause symptoms per se or only with other concomitant factors (triggers)?
- If MB is a congenital anomaly, why do patients develop symptoms typically after the age of 40?
- What is the role of MB in plaque burden and morphology in the coronary which is concerned by the anomaly?
- How can the benign and malignant type be differentiated morphologically and functionally?
- If once symptomatic, should it be treated medically or invasively?

Our group aimed to approach these questions. In the dissertation I present a retrospective, high-number population-based clinical study we aimed at describing the anatomical differences between symptomatic and non-symptomatic LAD myocardial bridges found on coronary angiography and to investigate the influence of clinical and bridge morphological factors on long-term mortality. I also present data from a case – control study driven by coronary CT angiography, where we evaluated the plaque morphology beneath the tunneled segment.

#### 2. Objectives

#### 2.1. Aims of our study

As it was described in the previous chapter, there are plenty of unanswered questions about MB. We had only sporadic case presentations which demonstrate LAD-MB as a non-atherosclerotic coronary lesion that can cause ischemia with its consequences.

First, we would investigate the relation of long-term outcome and coronary morphology in a numerous MB population. We looked for the characteristics of morphological factors detected by angiography, those may be associated with angina pectoris. We aimed to compare the life expectancy among patients with LAD-MB only and patients who had LAD-MB and significant atherosclerotic disease together. We also aimed to study whether these morphological factors influence long-term mortality.

Secondly, in a retrospective case control study we investigated the plaque morphology beneath the myocardial bridge by CT angiography.

Finally, we aimed to present an own case where LAD-MB led to ischemia, myocardial infarction and ventricular septal rupture (Case I.).

In another case report, we show in a case where the treatment choice of a symptomatic, therapy refractory LAD-MB was revascularization, percutaneous coronary intervention (Case II). This case refers as an example that the mode of revascularization may result in a long-term success in the treatment of significant MBs.

#### 3. Methods

#### 3.1. Invasive, morphological study

For our retrospective study we investigated a large number patient population in our primary cardiac center. A total of 11,385 diagnostic coronary angiographies were performed. Indications were defined according to the current European guidelines: high risk patients for coronary artery disease based on pretest probability and patients with Acute coronary syndrome were also evaluated.in our cardiology center, at the Heart and Vascular Center of the Semmelweis University of Budapest between 25 March 2009 and 12 March 2011. Ethical approval (of enrolled patients) was obtained from the Central Ethics Committee of Hungary, with all the participants completing informed consent forms, which were in conformity with the WMA Declaration of Helsinki-Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects.

We enrolled a total of 203 patients (1.78%) with a clear presence of MBs (defined as a clearly visible alteration of vessel caliber between systole and diastole, recognized by the investigator). To obtain a more consistent study group, we excluded patients with MBs affecting arteries other than the LAD and where any other obvious cause of angina pectoris was presented (n = 57), see Figure 2. The remaining patients (n = 146) were divided into two groups according to accompanying coronary artery disease. Seventyeight patients were referred for angiography because of typical angina pectoris, and, except for LAD-MB, no other underlying, epicardial coronary disease was found (LAD-MBneg group). Sixty-eight patients were also referred for angiography because of angina pectoris, but in this group significant coronary artery disease was also revealed in addition to the LAD MB (LAD-MBpos group). In the LAD-MBpos group coronary plaque was considered significant if lumen narrowing (>50% in diameter) of significant epicardial coronary arteries (>1.5 mm diameter) was observed, and we provided therapy according to current guidelines. Ad-hoc percutaneous coronary intervention was performed in 23 (34%) of these patients, with indications according to current guidelines. For a better understanding, the design of the study and the selection of the patients are shown in Figure 2.



**Figure 2.** The design of the study and the selection of patients. LAD-MB: Myocardial bridge of left anterior descending coronary artery; LAD-MBpos: Left anterior descending myocardial bridge with another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group; LAD-MBneg: Left anterior descending myocardial bridge. Source: Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47).

Quantitative angiography was performed according to our standard clinical practice. Vessels and lesions were analyzed using a computerized quantification system (Innova 2100, General Electric Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA). Measurements were obtained with digital calipers. All the MBs were measured in lateral view (angulation of the "C" arm left lateral, LAO: 90 degrees, caudal: 0 degrees) in end-systole and end-diastole by an expert interventionist (Figure 3.). Four main parameters were measured:

(1) length of the MB, defined as the distance from the most proximal point to the most distal point of the LAD, where the systolic narrowing phenomenon could be observed.

(2) reference diameter of the MB, defined as the diameter of the vessel immediately proximal to the point where the systolic narrowing started; and

(3) minimal diameter of the MB, measured also in end-systole at the point where the thickening was the most prominent. Additionally, from these parameters we calculated.

(4) minimal diameter to reference diameter, the ratio between minimal stenosis and reference diameter in percentage to characterize shortening of bridge for each patient.

In addition to these data, we also recorded height, weight, sex of patients and presence of main cardiovascular risk factors, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and dyslipidemia. We collected information about the patients' mortality by phone visit and we also checked data on survival status (according to the Hungarian National Database) in 1. April 2020.



**Figure 3.** Representative image of a measurement process in lateral view (end-systole) by quantitative coronary angiography (QCA). Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47).

#### 3.2. Non-invasive CCTA Study

In another patient group we quantified plaque volumes proximal to the MB and beneath it in patients with MB and in the equivalent coronary segments in patients without MB. We searched for patients' data who underwent coronary CCTA due to suspected coronary artery disease in our cardiovascular center (Semmelweis University Heart and Vascular Center) between April of 2016 and May of 2017 May. We selected patient records with LAD-MB where image quality was sufficient for further evaluations. Patients with established cardiac disease as history of acute myocardial infarction, coronary intervention, coronary artery bypass surgery, heart transplantation or stroke were not selected. The control group also had an excellent image quality of coronary CTA but without LAD-MB. The controls were matched for the variables listed below: age  $(\pm 10\%$  range), gender, body mass index  $(\pm 10\%$  range) and the presence of typical cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidaemia, smoking) and for scan parameters.

In our center we used a 256-slice multidetector row computed tomography (CT) scanner (Brilliance iCT 256; Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands). We analyzed coronary CTA scans using a semi-automated plaque quantification software (Angiocath Research Edition, version 3.1.0.1, Medis Medical Imaging Systems, Leiden, The Netherlands) After the manual tracing of the vessel centerline, the software reconstructed the straight multiplanar view of the segmented vessel. For the control patients, we extracted two corresponding segments with equal length as their matched pairs' segments. The software calculated the total plaque volume and the plaque composition according to predefined density ranges based on Hounsfield unit (HU) categories: -100 to 30 HU necrotic (low attenuation non-calcified) core, 31 to 130 HU fibrofatty (mid attenuation noncalcified) plaque, 131 to 350 HU fibrous (high attenuation noncalcified) plaque, and > 350 HU calcified plaque component were identified. We separately analyzed the entire segment and a  $\sim 20$ -mm-long subsegment immediately proximal to MB.

#### 3.3. Statistics

2020. Statistics GraphPad Prism (version 6, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) and SPSS (version 22, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) were used for the statistical analysis.

In the invasive study we compared the LAD-MBneg and LAD-MBpos groups directly. In the case of normal distribution of continuous data, the unpaired t-test was used. In the case of non-normal distribution, the Mann–Whitney U-test was utilized. To compare parameters with binomial outcomes (sex, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes mellitus), the Chi-square test was performed. Mortality rate was summarized by constructing Kaplan–Meier curves, and the distributions of the groups were compared by a log-rank test. For this analysis, median values were used to dichotomize continuous variables (MB length, reference diameter, minimal diameter and minimal diameter to reference diameter). Single variable Cox regression analysis was used for the search of predictors of death from the data of the patients (age, sex, BMI, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes mellitus). All variables associated with a p value <0.15 by single variable analysis were entered into the multiple variable Cox regression analysis with the parameters of myocardial bridge (MB length, reference diameter, minimal diameter and minimal diameter to reference diameter). Hazard ratio was given with 95% CI interval and p value was provided for the significance of different parameters on clinical outcomes. Continuous data are expressed as means with standard deviation.

In the non-invasive, CCTA study we compared the "Patients with myocardial bridge" and "Patients without myocardial bridge" groups directly. In the case of normal distribution of continuous data, the unpaired t-test was used. In the case of non-normal distribution, the Mann–Whitney U-test was utilized. Data were expressed by providing interquartile range (IQR).

A p value <0.05 was considered significant for all tests.

#### 4. Results.

#### 4.1. Results of the invasive, morphological study

Demographic and clinical data and LAD-MB morphological data are summarized in Table 2. The total number of analyzed patients was 146, and 64% were male with no differences of sex ratio between LAD-MBpos and LAD-MBneg groups regarding sex. LAD-MBpos patients were characterized by older age, increased presence of type 2 diabetes mellitus, while there was no statistical difference between the presence of hypertension or hyperlipidemia and BMI.

MB morphological data is also presented in Table 2. According to our results, LAD-MBneg group was characterized with more severe morphological features. The shortening of MB (minimal diameter to reference diameter) significantly decreased, while the length and reference diameter showed a strong tendency towards decreased value in the LAD-MBneg group compared to LAD-MBpos group. The minimal diameter showed no differences between our groups.

**Table 2.** The distribution of the data of patients presenting with angina pectoris and with a myocardial bridge detected in the left anterior descendent artery (n = 146) and comparison of LAD-MB neg and LAD-MB pos population. Data is shown as mean (SD). LAD-MB: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge; LAD-MB pos: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge; LAD-MB pos: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge with other significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion; LAD-MB neg: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge without another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion; Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47)

	Overall population n = 146	LAD-MB <sup>neg</sup> n = 78	LAD-MB <sup>pos</sup> n = 68	LAD-MB <sup>neg</sup> vs. LAD-MB <sup>pos</sup>
Mean age (years)	60.6 (12.7)	57.6 (12.4)	64.5 (11.5(	0.001
Male sex	94 (64%)	50 (64%)	43 (64%)	0.99
Hypertension	105 (72%)	57 (73%)	48 (72%)	0.87
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	36 (25%)	13 (17%)	24 (36%)	0.008
Hyperlipidemia	77 (53%)	37 (47%)	40 (60%)	0.14
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.6 (3.8)	27.2 (3.4)	28.2 (4.3)	0.11
LAD-MB length (mm)	21.4 (8.2)	23.4 (8.3)	20.0 (7.7)	0.05
Reference diameter (mm)	2.18 (0.46)	2.23 (0.42)	2.09 (0.41)	0.06
Minimal diameter (mm)	1.10 (0.41)	1.02 (0.36)	1.11 (0.38)	0.39
Minimal diameter to reference diameter (%)	49.5 (15.5)	54.5 (13.1)	46.5 (16.4)	0.006

Long term follow-up: the average follow-up period of this patient population was 3115±249 days, almost ten years. When we checked survival status, we found that mortality was 16.4% in the overall population. Eight persons died in the LAD-MBneg group; thus, the all-cause mortality rate in this population was 10.3% for this follow-up period. We searched for differences between the two prespecified subgroups: the Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed significant disparity in mortality between LAD-MBneg and LAD-MBpos groups (Figure 5.).



**Figure 4.** Kaplan–Meier curve of the long-term follow-up comparing LAD-MBpos (left anterior descendent myocardial bridge with another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion) and LAD-MBneg (left anterior descendent myocardial bridge without another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion) group. The LAD-MBpos group was associated with higher mortality. Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47).

We also searched for factors that could influence long-term mortality both in overall population and LAD-MBneg group. As a first step, we determined factors from the demographic and clinical data using single variable Cox regression. In the overall population the presence of coronary stenosis, diabetes mellitus and older age were associated with increased mortality, while in the LAD-MBneg group only age influenced survival outcome. To determine the role of morphological parameters, a multiple variable Cox regression was performed with the morphological parameters (MB length, reference diameter, minimal diameter, minimal diameter to reference diameter) and influencing factors from single variable analysis. Our results show that none of the morphological parameters influence long-term mortality (Table 3).

**Table 3.** Summary of univariate and multivariate Cox regression analysis of overall survival in overall population and LAD-MBneg group. LAD-MB: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge; LAD-MB<sup>neg</sup>: Left anterior descendent myocardial bridge without another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion group. HR: hazard ratio. Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47).

	Overall p n =	opulation 146	$LAD-MB^{neg}$ $n = 78$	
	Single variable analysis	Multiple variable analysis	Single variable analysis	Multiple variable analysis
Stenosis	0.005 HR:3.45	0.11 HR:2.14	NA	NA
Mean age (years)	< 0.001 HR:1.08	0.001 HR:1.08	0.03 HR:1.07	0.03 HR:1.09
Male sex	0.77 HR:0.89	0.77 HR:0.89 NA		NA
Hypertension	0.62 NA HR:1.26		0.93 HR:1.07	NA
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	0.06 HR:2.14	0.251 HR:1.62	0.73 HR:0.69	NA
Hyperlipidemia	0.36 HR:0.69	NA	0.55 HR:0.64	NA
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.86 HR:1.01	NA	0.95 HR:1.01	NA
LAD-MB length (mm)	NA	0.83 HR:1.01	NA	0.15 HR:1.07
Reference diameter (mm)	NA	0.48 HR:2.73	NA	0.51 HR:6.30
Minimal stenosis (mm)	NA	0.77 HR:0.45	NA	0.50 HR:0.02
Minimal stenosis to reference diameter (%)	NA	NA 0.70 HR:0.98		0.59 HR:0.94

This result was also confirmed by Kaplan-Meier analysis, when median values were used to dichotomize variables of MB morphology: more severe morphological characteristics were not associated with increased mortality (Figure 6.).



**Figure 5.** Kaplan–Meier curve of the long-term follow-up comparing morphological features of the myocardial bridge in LAD-MBneg (left anterior descendent myocardial bridge without another significant atherosclerotic coronary lesion) group. For this analysis, median values were used to dichotomize continuous variables. None of the morphological characteristics influenced the mortality rate. Bárczi G et al. 2022 (47).

#### 4.2. Results of the non-invasive, CCTA study

There were not significant differences regarding different plaque components in segments proximal to the MB. Fatty plaque and necrotic core volumes were smaller or negligible in coronary segment beneath MB than in controls (0.07 mm3 [IQR: 0.005-0.27 mm3] vs. 12.7 mm3 [IQR: 7.4-24.4 mm3]) and 0.00mm3 [IQR: 0.00-0.04 mm3] vs. 0.06 mm3 [IQR: 0.03-2.8 mm3], respectively (p<0.001). (Table 4.)

Table 4. Plaque characteristics of left anterior descending coronary artery segments beneath myocardial bridge in cases and those of corresponding coronary segments in controls (median values with interquartile range [IQR]). Papp S, et al. 2021 (4).

	Patients with Myocardial bridge n = 50		Patients without Myocardial bridge (controls) n = 50		р
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	
Segment length (mm)	19.6	14.1-24.7	19.4	14.0-24.3	0.95
Vessel volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	110.9	61.5-154.6	146.4	114.3-203.7	<0.001
Lumen volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	93.3	48.8-128.9	112.62	94.5-160.2	0.002
Total plaque volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	16.2	12.6-25.8	21.1	14.0-42.4	0.03
Necrotic core volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	0.00	0.00-0.04	0.06	0.03-2.8	<0.001
Fatty plaque volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	0.07	0.007-0.27	12.7	7.4-24.4	<0.001
Fibrosus plaque volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	12.8	5.4-18.3	14.3	10.0-26.5	0.07
Calcified plaque volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	1.1	0.4-3.2	1.1	0.2-2.9	0.82

4.3. Case I. Ventricular septal rupture caused by Myocardial bridge, solved by interventional closure device.

An 88-year-old female patient was admitted due to chest pain which lasted for 20 hours. Her ECG showed a presumably new left bundle branch block. In her previous medical history, we revealed gastro-esophageal reflux disease with hiatus hernia, duodenal ulcer, bronchial asthma, mammary fibroadenoma, vertebrobasilar syndrome, cervical and lumbar spondylosis, fibromyalgia, osteoporosis and psychiatric disorders such as dysthymia. In her young age she was a successful fencer. Coronary artery stenosis was ruled out with immediate coronarography and a myocardial bridge 19.1 mm in length was described on the mid third of the left anterior descending coronary artery. The bridge's minimum systolic lumen diameter was 0.91 mm, and the maximum systolic lumen reduction compare with the diastolic diameter was 82.8%. Due to the lack of fixed atherosclerotic stenosis as a possible target of stent implantation, an intervention was not performed. Laboratory results revealed positive cardiac necro enzymes with the highest creatine kinase-MB being 77 U/L. Echocardiography showed a 22×15 mm aneurysm on the distal third of the anterior septum, in which 8-mm wide VSR jet was detected (with a peak gradient: 100 mm Hg). A few pericardial fluids were described as well. The positive biomarkers and the detected signs led to the diagnosis of a myocardial infarction. The left ventricular systolic function was maintained with an ejection fraction: 60 per cent. To clarify the relation between the infarction and the lesion we carried out MRI, which demonstrated colocalization of the late contrast enhancement and the VSR (Figure 4.). A dilated right ventricle and the preserved left ventricular systolic function were also confirmed.



**Figure 6.** The aneurysm containing the rupture can be seen on the distal septum (MR) Zóka A, et al. 2012 (12).

Taking into consideration the discrepancy between the right and the left ventricular cardiac output Qp/Qs:1.75, we decided to close the rupture. As open-heart surgery was contraindicated because of the woman's age and concomitant diseases, a transcatheter closure approach was decided upon. The left ventricular angiography was carried out from right femoral artery approach. A Terumo guidewire (Terumo Europe N.V, Leuven, Belgium) was driven through the ventricular septal defect into the right ventricle, right atrium, and vena cava superior. An arteriovenous loop was formed with a Multisnare (pfm medical ag, Köln, Germany) catheter and 9F sheath was inserted from the right jugular vein through the defect. Through the sheath the defect was closed with a 12 mm AMPLATZER® (AGA Medical Corporation, North Plymouth, MN, USA) muscular ventricular septal defect occluder. Despite the right ventricular disc misalignment, the position of the device was stable. The intervention was successful and after the procedure only minimal residual blood flow was detected through the device. Echocardiography also excluded any mechanical complications. The patient was discharged with regular medical therapy. For one year follow-up did not occur any adverse event.

4.4. Case II. Fractional flow reserve guided stenting of a Myocardial bridge.

A 52-year-old man was admitted with chest pain provoked by emotional stress. Laboratory tests and transthoracic echocardiography were within normal range. An exercise treadmill test was indicated according to Bruce protocol that demonstrated ischemia, significant ST segment depressions on ECG at 125 Watts workload. As the first, therapeutical step, beta-blocker was up titrated (bisoprolol from 2.5 to 10 mg daily). Despite the medical therapy, the patient remained symptomatic. Coronary angiography showed MB in the mid left anterior descending artery with lumen compression (minimal lumen diameter: 0.26 mm, reference vessel diameter: 2.6 mm, and lesion length: 25.4 mm). Atherosclerotic lesions were not detected. FFR measurement proved relevant myocardial ischemia (Pd/Pa=0.69). After FFR measurement, the lesion was stented with a 3.0×38 mm paclitaxel eluting stent (Promus Premier, Boston Sci, US) at 14 atm. Control angiography showed good results, and final FFR (Pd/Pa=0.96) verified improved hemodynamics. Following the intervention the patient remained asymptomatic and at the 18-months control multislice CT angiography excluded the restenosis or any other procedure-related complications.

#### 5. Discussion

In this thesis we would characterize long-term outcome of MB in a relatively large, single-center population and provide unique cases, where MB was associated with different clinical features.

Above we also provided a retrospective, single-center study using long-term follow-up, with a moderate number of patients, to investigate anatomical symptomatic LAD myocardial bridges and to determine the role of clinical, demographic and morphological features in the long-term survival of the patients with relevant LAD-MB. Although myocardial bridging has been intensively investigated since it was recognized by autopsy and coronary angiography, the exact potential effect on cardiovascular mortality is still unknown. Coronary angiography remained the gold standard for detecting MB; however, it has recently been more frequently revealed by MDCT (3.5– 58%) than by angiography (0.4–15.8%) (32-34). Angiography detects bridging at rates from 0.5% to 12%, most frequently localized on the middle segment of the LAD artery. The prevalence of LAD-MBs (1–2%) in our population was similar compared to the findings in other large-volume centers, detected by routine coronary angiography (Figure 2.) (1). The morphological parameters of these bridges, measured by quantitative coronary analysis (both the length and reference diameter values), are also comparable with the data from literature (Table 2.) (1, 35,36). We utilized QCA, that gave us the opportunity to measure simple parameters describing the LAD bridge and might be utilized routinely and promptly during invasive measurements (Figure 3.). There are more sophisticated invasive methods to characterize a bridge in detail; however, they need temporal and material sacrifice. Invasive imaging and functional assessment of the severity of MBs is possible with angiography, IVUS, OCT and FFR measurement (37-39). IVUS demonstrated characteristic systolic compression of the bridge segments (the so-called half-moon phenomenon) (40). Recently, there have been some reports of the usefulness of OCT in the evaluation of the internal coronary artery wall of myocardial bridges and MBs investigated by OCT, and they were found to be longer, but the diameter stenosis was lower than with angiography-based measurements (38). The use of FFR is controversial because MB is a dynamic stenosis, and FFR has not been validated in MB; however, some reports exist of FFR-guided coronary intervention in MB (39). Clinical adjudication of myocardial bridges is often difficult. On the one hand, there is an essential discrepancy between the high prevalence of the phenomenon accompanied with excellent prognosis (which was also observed in this study) and between the numerous case reports describing serious clinical significance to tunneled arteries, mostly without detailed anatomical descriptions of these MBs. On the other hand, the proof of functional significance–linkage with clinical symptoms–is challenging with either invasive or noninvasive tests. Large, controlled clinical trials are very limited in this field mainly because of the suspected benign nature of this unique coronary anomaly, moreover the model of MB has not been successfully established in experimental models either. It would be essential to clarify which tunneled arteries are potentially symptomatic and which are potentially life-threatening, and this might even cause sudden cardiac death.

We divided our population with angina pectoris, where obstructive coronary disease (>50% coronary stenosis) was also present, to examine whether in this population-where myocardial bridge might be only an accidental finding-there are different clinical factors and bridge features compared to patients with isolated LAD-MB (Table 2). The cut-off of 50% diameter stenosis on epicardial vessels for defining obstructive CAD is based on studies on what degree of stenosis is flow limiting and may cause ischemia under stress (41). It is not surprising that the LAD-MBpos patients were older and could be characterized by an increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus and were associated with higher mortality compared to the LAD-MBneg group (Figure 4). From another view, age and diabetes mellitus were the only risk factors that showed significant differences in the prevalence between the two groups. The high prevalence of hypertension (Table 2) despite much younger patients in the LAD-MBneg groupsuggests that elevated arterial pressure might play an important role in the development of symptoms in the case of LAD bridge, which was not observed in previous studies (42). Indeed, hypertension-induced cardiac hypertrophy might worsen the symptoms in patients with coronary myocardial bridge. Symptomatic, isolated LAD bridges were associated with more severe lumen narrowing, longer bridge segments and increased reference diameter (Table 2). The first-line treatment for symptomatic MB is medical therapy by providing beta and calcium channel blockers, which was provided to our patients (3). The placement of metal stents in MB might be associated with stent fracture and edge restenosis; therefore, it should only be considered in patients with bridging

refractory to medical therapy (28). Except the provided case report, there was no need to implant stent in such quite large number of LAD-MB population.

Isolated myocardial bridging is generally considered to be a benign condition. Besides appealing, unique clinical cases (10-14), studies with long-term follow-up suggest that bridging might be associated with negative clinical outcomes, such as myocardial infarctions and arrhythmias (43). Long bridges were associated with these complications. The 10.2% 10-year mortality in the LAD-MBneg group is comparable with 1.1% average yearly mortality in 45–59 years old men and women in Hungary (WHO statistics, 2014). Therefore, we investigated in the LAD-MBneg group whether the anatomical parameters measured by QCA might influence long-term mortality (Figure 5). We found that patients in the isolated myocardial bridging group were associated with low mortality and none of the anatomical factors or morphological severity influenced long-term (a follow-up of approximately 10 years) mortality (Figure 5, Table 3). Our data also suggest that more severe bridge anatomical characteristics are not associated with worse long-term outcomes, suggesting the benign nature of myocardial bridges independently from the severity of anatomical features.

The main limitations of the study were the retrospective design of the study and the lack of non-invasive assessment of MB anatomy with MDCT and invasive imaging techniques, such as IVUS or OCT. Although these measurements, which are not routinely used, would be more precise to describe bridge morphology, they require more financial and medical effort and are associated with increased radiation time. We also emphasize that no healthy control group was investigated to compare mortality directly to these individuals.

In the other retrospective study, where CCTA was used to investigate, we proved that there are significant differences between cases and controls regarding total plaque volumes and compositions in the corresponding coronary segments (Table 4.). These data suggest a protective mechanism of plaque formation in tunneled segment of LAD that may be the consequence of altered pressure and flow due to the bridge. It has been already described that epicardial adipose tissue may play a role in the plaque formation of epicardial coronary arteries (44, 45). Indeed, a few studies documented that epicardial adipose compartment should be considered as a source of inflammatory mediators that might influence coronary arteries via paracrine and endocrine routes (7). The involved coronary segment beneath MB is tunneled by the surrounding myocardium and adipose tissue might be absent and therefore, no local deleterious atherogenic effect from local adipose tissue might be expected (46). In our study we found a reduced plaque volume with a more favorable plaque composition beneath LAD-MB corroborating former observations about the protective role of MB in the development of coronary plaques.

In our first case (Case I.) a clear pathological or pathophysiological condition underlying the myocardial infarction and the ventricular rupture was not established. We found no visible atherosclerotic plaques and no vasospasm was noted during coronary angiography. Some data suggest proximal clot formation as a mechanism for bridge obstruction, even postulating its transient repetition followed by spontaneous lysis (12). Nevertheless, in this case the diagnostic procedures showed only myocardial bridge anatomy and aneurysm containing the rupture. We also considered the possibility of this VSR being a congenital defect. However, there are a few arguments against this theory:

• A long lasting 1.75 times higher right ventricular cardiac output would have caused visible ventricular hypertrophy, which was not found.

• Although the distal septal area is a possible localization for a congenital defect, this wall segment showed characteristics typical of ischemia: hypokinesis, normal thickness, and delayed contrast hyperenhancement.

• A congenital jet normally crosses the wall perpendicularly, while in our case it crosses the wall diagonally.

• It is well known that small congenital defects affecting the muscular septum tend to close spontaneously until the age of seven, but the one presented in our study remained open despite its small size (31).

These arguments, the lack of significant fixed stenosis or any other visible coronary anomaly, the localization of the infarction, and the normal left ventricular ejection fraction led us to the conclusion that the myocardial bridge played a significant role in the patient's ventricular septal rupture. However, it is still unclear why this bridge did not cause any disruption before the patient's advanced age. Indeed, according to our knowledge, angina associated with MB might be more pronounced by age, which can be explained to the age-related remodeling of the heart.

In case II. drug eluting stent implantation with a longer stent than the visible bridge was safe and effective in this patient during the follow-up period. PCI seems a reasonable treatment in symptomatic MBs; however, patient selection and procedural aspects remain unclear in the absence of comparative clinical trials. Angina pectoris-like symptoms could be caused by several reasons beyond atherosclerotic coronary disease. To hold the MB responsible for the symptoms, its pathological role must be proved. In a recent publication by Hakkem (20), the FFR measurement was done with dobutamine provocation in the symptomatic bridge. The most severe hemodynamic alteration was found in diastolic FFR; therefore, the authors suggested using this value in the MB patients. Dynamic compression caused by the MB is unique and this kind of coronary lesion differs from other atherosclerotic lesions. The high incidence of procedural failures like stent thrombosis (25), coronary perforation (26), and early restenosis (27) suggest that the stents' mechanical properties, diameter, and length are the determining factors for a successful intervention. High inflation pressures may be required for optimal stent implantation despite the higher risk of coronary perforation. Basically, the stent recoil means the percentage by which the diameter of a stent decreases from its expanded diameter (when the balloon is inflated at nominal pressure) to its relaxed diameter (when the balloon is retrieved from the stent). We must calculate with a dynamic stress component as well, which is caused by the myocardium mass above the lesion. The given device's resistance to this permanent, cyclic force can make a difference between various stent types. On the contrary e.g., the push ability seems to be a less important feature when preparing for stenting a MB on the mid segment of the LAD.

We have started further prospective research to study the correlation between morphology detected by angiography and functionality (FFR) and myocardial fibrosis. Also, an important topic is the coronary stent's different property against dynamic compression.

#### 6. Conclusions

In this dissertation first, we provided a retrospective, single-center study using long-term follow-up. We looked for the characteristics of morphological factors measured by angiography that may provoke angina pectoris. We proved that the isolated, symptomatic bridges are longer, and the systolic caliber indecision is more prominent. Morphological parameters of angina-associated, isolated LAD bridges were more severe compared to bridges that were accidentally found in patients with obstructive coronary disease. Our ten-year long follow-up period showed that morphological parameters measured with QCA did not influence long-term mortality outcomes; therefore, it suggests that anatomical differences might not predict long-term outcomes. Our data underline the benign nature of myocardial bridge.

In another patient group we quantified plaque volumes proximal to the MB and beneath it in patients with MB and in the equivalent coronary segments in patients without MB. This case control, retrospective study was driven by CCTA.

Thirdly, we presented two cases where LAD-MB, a non-atherosclerotic coronary lesion, led to ischemia, myocardial infarction and ventricular septal rupture. The mechanical complication of the myocardial infarction was successfully treated invasively with a closure device. In another case report, we show a patient, in whom the treatment decision of a symptomatic LAD-MB was revascularization, percutaneous coronary intervention. This case demonstrated that even this choice could be successful and may result in long-term event free survival. Here we pointed out the importance of the stent structure and the mode of deployment.

The main conclusions of the dissertation:

- Isolated, symptomatic LAD-MB (associated with angina pectoris) are longer, with a more expressed systolic caliber variation. Those patients who have significant arteriosclerosis besides MB have a worse prognosis.
- The morphological features of LAD-MB do not influence long-term (10 years) survival. This result and the all-over mortality of LAD-MBneg group suggest benign nature of isolated LAD-MB.
- Fatty plaque and necrotic core volumes were smaller or negligible in coronary segment beneath LAD-MB compared to controls. This finding suggest that MB might hold a protective role against plaque rupture.

- LAD-MB can cause significant ischemia, that can lead to myocardial infarction and its mechanical complications (Case I.).
- Percutaneous coronary intervention and stent implantation might be an option in medical therapy refractory cases of LAD-MB (Case II).

#### 7. Summary

Although myocardial bridging (MB) has been intensively investigated using different methods, the effect of bridge morphology on long-term outcome is still doubtful. We aimed at describing the anatomical differences in coronary angiography between symptomatic and non-symptomatic left anterior descendent (LAD) myocardial bridges and to investigate the influence of clinical and morphological factors on long-term mortality. In our retrospective, long-term, single center study we found relevant MB on the LAD coronary artery in 146 cases during a two-year period, when 11,385 patients underwent coronary angiography due to angina pectoris. Patients were divided into two groups: those with myocardial bridge only (LAD-MBneg) and those with associated obstructive coronary artery disease (LAD-MBpos). Clinical factors, morphology of bridge by quantitative coronary analysis and ten-year long mortality data were collected. The LAD-MBneg group was associated with younger age and decreased incidence of diabetes mellitus, as well as with increased minimal diameter to reference diameter ratio, while there was a tendency towards longer lesions and higher vessel diameter values compared to the LAD-MBpos group. The LAD-MBpos group was associated with increased mortality compared to the LAD-MBneg group. The analysis of our data showed that morphological parameters of LAD bridge did not influence long-term survival, either in the overall population or in the LAD-MBneg patients. Therefore, morphological parameters of the LAD bridge might not influence long-term mortality outcomes.

In another case control, retrospective study by coronary computed tomography angiography, we proved that there are significant differences between MB coronary segments and matched controls regarding total plaque volumes and compositions in the corresponding coronary segments. Fatty plaque and necrotic core volumes were smaller or negligible in coronary segment beneath MB than in controls. Therefore MB might hold a protective role against vulnerable plaque formation.

In two related cases we confirmed that some MBs can cause symptoms even with severe complications and demonstrated that symptomatic MBs can be treated successfully with stent implantation. However, several questions wait for an answer regarding symptomatic MBs and proper treatment.

#### 8. References

- Hostiuc S, Negoi I, Rusu MC, Hostiuc M. (2018) Myocardial Bridging: A Meta-Analysis of Prevalence. J Forensic Sci, 63:1176-1185.
- Sorajja P, Ommen SR, Nishimura RA, Gersh BJ, Tajik AJ, Holmes DR. (2003) Myocardial bridging in adult patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol, 42:889-94.
- Tarantini G, Migliore F, Cademartiri F, Fraccaro C, Iliceto S. (2016) Left Anterior Descending Artery Myocardial Bridging: A Clinical Approach. J Am Coll Cardiol, 68:2887-2899.
- 4. Papp S, Bárczi G, Karády J, Kolossváry M, Drobni ZD, Simon J, Boussoussou M, Vattay B, Szilveszter B, Jermendy G, Merkely B, Maurovich-Horvat P. (2021) Coronary plaque burden of the left anterior descending artery in patients with or without myocardial bridge: A case-control study based on coronary CTangiography. Int J Cardiol, 327:231-235.
- 5. Ishii T, Asuwa N, Masuda S, Ishikawa Y. (1998) The effects of a myocardial bridge on coronary atherosclerosis and ischaemia. J Pathol, 185:4-9.
- Sacks HS, Fain JN. Human epicardial adipose tissue: a review. (2007) Am Heart J, 153:907-917.
- Mazurek T, Zhang L, Zalewski A. (2003) Human epicardial adipose tissue is a source of inflammatory mediators. Circulation,108: 2460-2466.
- Nishimiya K, Matsumoto Y, Wang H, Piao Z, Ohyama K, Uzuka H, Hao K, Tsuburaya R, Takahashi J, Ito K, Shimokawa H. (2018) Absence of adventitial vasa vasorum formation at the coronary segment with myocardial bridge - An optical coherence tomography study. Int J Cardiol, 250:275-277.
- Sternheim D, Power DA, Samtani R, Kini A, Fuster V, Sharma S. (2021) Myocardial Bridging: Diagnosis, Functional Assessment, and Management: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol, 78:2196-2212.
- Yan F, Chen Y. (2014) A case of sudden death due to myocardial bridging of the left anterior descending coronary artery. Chin Med J (Engl), 127:2553.
- Arjomand H, AlSalman J, Azain J, Amin D. (2000) Myocardial bridging of left circumflex coronary artery associated with acute myocardial infarction. J Invasive Cardiol, 12:431-434.

- Zóka A, Andréka P, Becker D, Fontos G, Merkely B, Szabó G, Szatmári A, Bárczi G. (2012) Ventricular septal rupture caused by myocardial bridge, solved by interventional closure device. Croat Med J, 53:627-630.
- Cutler D, Wallace JM. (1997) Myocardial bridging in a young patient with sudden death. Clin Cardiol, 20:581-583.
- 14. Roul G, Sens P, Germain P, Bareiss P. (1999) Myocardial bridging as a cause of acute transient left heart dysfunction. Chest, 116:574-580.
- Bourassa MG, Butnaru A, Lespérance J, Tardif JC. (2003) Symptomatic myocardial bridges: overview of ischemic mechanisms and current diagnostic and treatment strategies. J Am Coll Cardiol, 41:351–359.
- 16. Lin S, Tremmel JA, Yamada R, Rogers IS, Yong CM, Turcott R. (2013) A novel stress echocardiography pattern for myocardial bridge with invasive structural and hemodynamic correlation. J Am Heart Assoc, 2: 2-7.
- 17. Tang K, Wang L, Shi R, Zheng X, Li T, Zhao X. (2011) The role of myocardial perfusion imaging in evaluating patients with myocardial bridging. J Nucl Cardiol, 18:117–122
- Yu Y, Yu L, Dai X, Zhang J. CT (2021) Fractional Flow Reserve for the Diagnosis of Myocardial Bridging-Related Ischemia: A Study Using Dynamic CT Myocardial Perfusion Imaging as a Reference Standard. Korean J Radiol, 22:1964-1973.
- 19. Hongo Y, Tada H, Ito K, Yasumura Y, Miyatake K, Yamagishi M. (1999) Augmentation of vessel squeezing at coronary-myocardial bridge by nitroglycerin: study by quantitative coronary angiography and intravascular ultrasound. Am Heart J, 138:345-350.
- 20. Hakeem A, Cilingiroglu M, Leesar MA. (2010) Hemodynamic and intravascular ultrasound assessment of myocardial bridging: fractional flow reserve paradox with dobutamine versus adenosine. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv, 75:229-236.
- 21. Escaned J, Cortés J, Flores A, Goicolea J, Alfonso F, Hernández R, Fernández-Ortiz A, Sabaté M, Bañuelos C, Macaya C. (2003) Importance of diastolic fractional flow reserve and dobutamine challenge in physiologic assessment of myocardial bridging. J Am Coll Cardiol, 42:226-233.

- 22. Aleksandric SB, Djordjevic-Dikic AD, Dobric MR, Giga VL, Soldatovic IA, Vukcevic V, Tomasevic MV, Stojkovic SM, Orlic DN, Saponjski JD, Tesic MB, Banovic MD, Petrovic MT, Juricic SA, Nedeljkovic MA, Stankovic G, Ostojic MC, Beleslin BD. Functional Assessment of Myocardial Bridging With Conventional and Diastolic Fractional Flow Reserve: Vasodilator Versus Inotropic Provocation. J Am Heart Assoc, 6: 10-13.
- 23. Sternheim D, Power DA, Samtani R, Kini A, Fuster V, Sharma S. (2021) Myocardial Bridging: Diagnosis, Functional Assessment, and Management: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol, 78:2196-2212.
- 24. Schwarz ER, Klues HG, vom Dahl J, Klein I, Krebs W, Hanrath P. (1996) Functional, angiographic and intracoronary Doppler flow characteristics in symptomatic patients with myocardial bridging: effect of short-term intravenous beta-blocker medication. J Am Coll Cardiol, 27:1637–1645.
- 25. Derkacz A, Nowicki P, Protasiewicz M, Reczuch K, Szczepanik-Osadnik H, Witkowska M. (2007) Wielokrotny zabieg stentowania mostka mieśniowego-opis przypadku [Multiple percutaneous coronary stent implantation due to myocardial bridging--a case report]. Kardiol Pol, 65:684-687.
- 26. Hering D, Horstkotte D, Schwimmbeck P, Piper C, Bilger J, Schultheiss HP. (1997) Akuter Myokardinfarkt bei Muskelbrücke des Ramus interventricularis anterior: Komplizierter Verlauf mit Gefässperforation nach Stent-Implantation [Acute myocardial infarct caused by a muscle bridge of the anterior interventricular ramus: complicated course with vascular perforation after stent implantation]. Z Kardiol, 86:630-638.
- 27. Kursaklioglu H, Barcin C, Iyisoy A, Kose S, Amasyali B, Isik E. (2004) Angiographic restenosis after myocardial bridge stenting. Jpn Heart J,5:581-589.
- 28. Bárczi G, Csécs I, Ruzsa Z, Merkely B. (2017) Fractional flow reserve guided stenting of a myocardial bridge. Anatol J Cardiol, 17:251-252.
- 29. Zhang JZ, Zhu GY, Zhang Y, Bai LJ, Wang Z. (2021) Myocardial Bridge Bypass Graft: A Novel Surgical Procedure for Extensive Myocardial Bridges. Ann Thorac Surg, 112: 115-117.

- Ekeke CN, Noble S,Mazzaferri E, Crestanello JA.(2015) Myocardial bridging over the left anterior descending:myotomy, bypass, or both? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 149: 57–58.
- 31. Penny DJ, Vick GW (2011) Ventricular septal defect. Lancet, 377:1103-1112.
- 32. Cay, S, Ozturk S, Cihan, G, Kisacik HL, Korkmaz S. (2006) Angiographic prevalence of myocardial bridging. Anadolu Kardiyol. Derg, 6: 9–12.
- 33. Lazoura O, Kanavou T, Vassiou K, Gkiokas S, Fezoulidis IV. (2010) Myocardial bridging evaluated with 128-multi detector computed tomography coronary angiography. Surg. Radiol. Anat, 32: 45–50.
- 34. Liu SH, Yang Q, Chen JH, Wang M, Liu C. (2010) Myocardial bridging on dual source computed tomography: Degree of systolic compression of mural coronary artery correlating with length and depth of the myocardial bridge. Clin. Imaging, 34: 83–88.
- 35. Elmali, M, Soylu K, Gulel O, Bayrak IK, Koprulu D, Diren HB, Celenk C. (2008) Correlation between depth of myocardial bridging and coronary angiography findings. Acta Radiol, 49: 883–888.
- 36. Tsujita K, Maehara A, Mintz GS, Doi H, Kub, T, Castellanos, C, Liu J, Yang J, Oviedo C, Franklin-Bond T. (2008) Comparison of angiographic and intravascular ultrasonic detection of myocardial bridging of the left anterior descending coronary artery. Am. J. Cardiol, 102: 1608–1613.
- 37. Ge J, Erbel R, Rupprecht HJ, Koch L, Kearney P, Görge G, Haude M, Meyer J. (1994) Comparison of intravascular ultrasound and angiography in the assessment of myocardial bridging. Circulation, 89: 1725–1732.
- 38. Cao H.M, Jiang JF, Deng B, Xu JH, Xu WJ, (2010) Evaluation of myocardial bridges with optical coherence tomography. J. Int. Med. Res, 38: 681–685.
- 39. Kurtoglu N, Mutlu B, Soydinc S, Tanalp C, Izgi A, Dagdelen S, Bakkal RB, Dindar I. (2004) Normalization of coronary fractional flow reserve with successful intracoronary stent placement to a myocardial bridge. J. Interv. Cardiol, 17: 33–36.

- 40. Ge J, Jeremias A, Rupp A, Abels M, Baumgart D, Liu, F, Haude M, Görge G, Von Birgelen C, Sack S. (1999) New signs characteristic of myocardial bridging demonstrated by intracoronary ultrasound and Doppler. Eur. Heart J, 20: 1707– 1716.
- 41. Lindahl B, Baron T, Albertucci M, Prati F. (2021) Myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary artery disease. Eurointervention J. Eur. Collab. Work. Group Interv. Cardiol. Eur. Soc. Cardiol, 17: 875–887.
- 42. Bayrak F. Degertekin M, Eroglu E, Guneysu T, Sevinc D, Gemici G, Mutlu B, Aytaclar S. (2009) Evaluation of myocardial bridges with 64-slice computed tomography coronary angiography. Acta Cardiologica, 64: 341–346.
- 43. Kim SS, Jeong MH, Kim HK, Kim MC, Cho KH, Lee MG, Ko JS, Par, KH, Sim D.S, Yoon NS. (2010) Long-term clinical course of patients with isolated myocardial bridge. Circ. J, 74: 538–543.
- 44. Nagy E, Jermendy AL, Merkely B, Maurovich-Horvat P. (2017) Clinical importance of epicardial adipose tissue. Arch Med Sci, 13: 864-874.
- 45. Maurovich-Horvat P, Kallianos K, Engel LC, Szymonifka J, Fox CS, Hoffmann U, Truong QA. (2011) Influence of pericoronary adipose tissue on local coronary atherosclerosis as assessed by a novel MDCT volumetric method. Atherosclerosis, 219: 151-157.
- 46. Iacobellis G. (2015) Local and systemic effects of the multifaceted epicardial adipose tissue depot. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 11: 363-371.
- 47. Bárczi G, Becker D, Sydó N, Ruzsa Z, Vágó H, Oláh A, Merkely B. (2022) Impact of Clinical and Morphological Factors on Long-Term Mortality in Patients with Myocardial Bridge. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis, 9:129.

#### 9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

9.1. Publications directly related to the dissertation:

- Bárczi Gy, Merkely B, Oláh A, Papp S, Sayour A, Szigyártó I, Zóka A, Becker D. (2023) Myocardialis izomhíd: a tüneteket befolyásoló morfológiai faktorok vizsgálata [Myocardial bridge: morphological factors which influence symptoms]. Orv Hetil. 2023; 164(14): 563–570.
- Bárczi G, Becker D, Sydó N, Ruzsa Z, Vágó H, Oláh A, Merkely B. (2022) Impact of Clinical and Morphological Factors on Long-Term Mortality in Patients with Myocardial Bridge. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis, 9:129.
- Papp S, Bárczi G, Karády J, Kolossváry M, Drobni ZD, Simon J, Boussoussou M, Vattay B, Szilveszter B, Jermendy G, Merkely B, Maurovich-Horvat P. (2021) Coronary plaque burden of the left anterior descending artery in patients with or without myocardial bridge: A case-control study based on coronary CTangiography. Int J Cardiol,. 327:231-235.
- 4. Bárczi G, Csécs I, Ruzsa Z, Merkely B. (2017) Fractional flow reserve guided stenting of a myocardial bridge. Anatol J Cardiol, 17:251-252.
- Zóka A, Andréka P, Becker D, Fontos G, Merkely B, Szabó G, Szatmári A, Bárczi G. (2012) Ventricular septal rupture caused by myocardial bridge, solved by interventional closure device. Croat Med J, 53:627-630.

#### 9.2. Publications independent of the dissertation

- Vágó H, Szabó L, Dohy Z, Czimbalmos C, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Bárczi G, Gyarmathy VA, Becker D, Merkely B. (2012) Early cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in troponin-positive acute chest pain and non-obstructed coronary arteries. Heart. 106:992-1000.
- Castellano JM, Pocock SJ, Bhatt DL, Quesada AJ, Owen R, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Sanchez PL, Marin Ortuño F, Vazquez Rodriguez JM, Domingo-Fernández A, Lozano I, Roncaglioni MC, Baviera M, Foresta A, Ojeda-Fernandez L, Colivicchi F, Di Fusco SA, Doehner W, Meyer A, Schiele F, Ecarnot F, Linhart A, Lubanda JC, Barczi G, Merkely B, Ponikowski P, Kasprzak M, Fernandez Alvira JM, Andres V, Bueno H, Collier T, Van de Werf F, Perel P, Rodriguez-Manero M, Alonso Garcia A, Proietti M, Schoos MM, Simon T, Fernandez Ferro J, Lopez N, Beghi E, Bejot Y, Vivas D, Cordero A, Ibañez B, Fuster V. (2022) SECURE Investigators. Polypill Strategy in Secondary Cardiovascular Prevention. N Engl J Med, 387:967-977.
- Achim, A., Szigethy, T., Olajos, D., Molnár, L., Papp, R., Bárczi, G., Ruzsa, Z. (2022) Switching from Proximal to Distal Radial Artery Access for Coronary Chronic Total Occlusion Recanalization. FRONTIERS IN CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINE 9: 895457
- Kiss B., Nagy B, Pál-Jakab Á., Heltai K, Straub É, Fejér C., Barczi G, Zima, E. (2022). Szívmegállás utáni ellátás részeként alkalmazott sikeres VA-ECMO kezelés. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, Supplementum C, 322.
- Pintér A., Skoda R., Bárczi G., Szabó D., Bokor L, Vágó H, Becker D. (2021). COVID-19 infekció hatása az akut miokardiális infarktus prognózisára [Effect of COVID-19 infection on prognosis of acute myocardial infarction]. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 51: 77–77.
- 6. Skoda R., Nemes A, Bárczi G, Gajdácsi J, Vágó H, Ruzsa Z, Becker D. (2021). Prognosis and clinical characteristics of patients with early ventricular fibrillation in the 6-week guideline-offered time period: is it safe to wait 6 weeks with the assessment? (Results from the VMAJOR-MI Registry). QUANTITATIVE IMAGING IN MEDICINE AND SURGERY, 11: 402–409.

- Skoda R., Fulop G., Csulak E., Danics K, Toro K, Bokor L, Barczi G, Becker, D. (2021). The secondary effect of the first wave of COVID-19 and its consequences on myocardial infarction care in a high volume Hungarian cardiovascular center. COR ET VASA, 63: 345–349.
- Skoda R., Bárczi G., Vágó H, Nemes A. Szabó L, Fülöp G, Becker D. (2021). Prognosis of the non-ST elevation myocardial infarction complicated with early ventricular fibrillation at higher age. GEROSCIENCE: OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN AGING ASSOCIATION (AGE), 43: 2561–2571.
- Voith L, Édes IF, Nowotta F, Skoda R, Bárczi G, Merkely B, Becker D. (2021). Primer coronariaintervenció ST-elevációs infarktusban: Változások öt év alatt. ORVOSI HETILAP, 162: 497–503.
- Bárczi G, Liptai C. (2020). Várandóság és szívbetegség. In Szív- és érgyógyászat,
   1-2. . 575–592.
- Bárczi G. (2020). Stabil ischaemiás szívbetegség. In Szív- és érgyógyászat, 1-2.
   241–253.
- Bárczi, G. (2020). A beteg vizsgálata: anamnézis, tünetek, fizikális vizsgálat. In Szív- és érgyógyászat, 1-2. 139–143.
- 13. Becker D, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2020). Akut coronaria szindróma. In Szív- és érgyógyászat, 1-2. 253–285.
- Becker D, Skoda R., Bokor L, Bárczi G, Vágó H, Gajdácsi J, Merkely, B. (2020).
   A hazai szívinfarktus-ellátás eredményét befolyásoló tényezők elemzése. LEGE ARTIS MEDICINAE, 30: 383–390.
- 15. Kourek C, Greif R., Georgiopoulos G, Castren M, Boettiger B, Mongardon N, Bárczi G, Xanthos, T. (2020). Healthcare professionals' knowledge on cardiopulmonary resuscitation correlated with return of spontaneous circulation rates after in-hospital cardiac arrests: A multicentric study between university hospitals in 12 European countries. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CARDIOVASCULAR NURSING, 19: 401–410.
- Sydo N, Emese C, Szigyarto I, Kaufmann M, Lakatos BK, Kovacs A, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2020). Repetitive Syncope During Penthathlon Competition. JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF CARDIOLOGY, 75: 3065– 3065.

- 17. Ferencz A, Bárczi G, Heltai K, Zima E, Kovács A, Molnár L, Merkely B. (2019). Myocarditis nem szokványos esete: nem specifikus tünettantól az ECMO-ig / An exceptional case of myocarditis: from non-specific symptoms to the ECMO. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 49: 68–69.
- Szabo L, Horvath V, Dohy Z., Czimbalmos C, Toth A, Suhai F, Bárczi G, Vago H. (2019). Cardiac magnetic resonance-based feature-tracking myocardial strain analysis in MINOCA patients. EUROPEAN HEART JOURNAL 40:475.
- Bárczi G, Becker D, Gajdácsi J, Fejér C, Heltai K, Straub É, Merkely B. (2018). Kardiogén sokkal szövődő akut miokardiális infarktus prognózisa a modern intervenciós érában. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 48: 4.
- 20. Czimbalmos C, Csécs I, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Dohy Z, Szabó LE., Bárczi G, Vágó H. (2018). ST-elevációs miokardiális infarktus szív mágneses rezonanciás jellegzetességei az akut szakban és utánkövetés során. A mikrovaszkuláris obstrukció prognosztikus szerepe [Cardiac magnetic resonance characteristics of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in the acute period and during long-term follow up prognostic role of microvascular obstruction]. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 48: 308–316.
- 21. Skoda R, Bárczi G, Vágó H, Czimbalmos C, Doan N, Édes I F, Becker D. (2018). Miokardiális infarktusos nők halálozásának epidemiológiai vizsgálata [Epidemiologic research of mortality rates in women surviving acute myocardial infarction]. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 48: 380–383.
- Zima E, Kiss B, Szakál-Tóth Z, Kovács E, Straub É, Fejér C, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2018). CardShock és módosított CardShock Risk Score alkalmazhatóságának vizsgálata újraélesztett betegek körében. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 48: 21.
- 23. Csécs I, Czimbalmos C, Tóth A, Kiss O, Komka Z, Bárczi G, Vágó H. (2017). Sportszív vagy strukturális szívizombetegség? Szív mágneses rezonancia vizsgálat diagnosztikus szerepe sportolóknál strukturális szívbetegség gyanúja esetén [Structural myocardial disease or athlete's heart? The diagnostic role of cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging in athletes with the suspicion of structural heart disease]. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 47: 10–17.

- 24. Kiss L, Becker D, Skoda R, Doan N, Schwertner R, Ruzsa Z, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2017). A felvételi EKG-eltérések prognosztikai jelentősége nem ST-elevációs akut koronária szindróma esetén. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 47:11-12.
- 25. Straub É, Becker D, Bárczi G, Molnár L, Gellér L, Pap Z, Zima, E. (2017). "Targeted temperature management" (TTM), avagy célhőmérséklet orientált kezelés helye a kardiológiában. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 47: 26.
- 26. Szigethi T, Pileczky D, Pap Z, Fekete-Győr A, Kovács E, Heltai K, Bárczi G, Zima E. (2017). Hosszú távú túlélés és iniciális ritmus közötti összefüggés hirtelen szívhalál esetén [Relationship between survival and initial rhythm after cardiac arrest]. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 47: 30–34.
- Bárczi, G. (2016). Várandósság és szívelégtelenség. In A belgyógyászat alapjai 654–655.
- 28. Bárczi G, Csécs I, Czimbalmos C, Jakus R, Becker D, Szelényi Z, Merkely B. (2016). Sok hűhó semmiért? Versenykerékpáros fiatal nő syncopés esete [Much ado About Nothing? - Young Female Cyclist Presented with Syncope- A Case Report. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 46: 301–304.
- 29. Bárczi G, Oláh A. (2016). Precíz betekintés a plakkregresszió terén elért új eredményekbe. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 46: 244–249.
- 30. Becker D, Gajdácsi J, Vágó H, Kosztin A, Bárczi G, Heltai K, Merkely B. (2016). A nemzetközi infarktus ajánlások változásának hatása az akut intervenciós ellátásra. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 46: 10.
- 31. Pilecky D, Szudi G, Kovacs E, Jenei Z, Geller L, Heltai K, Bárczi G, Zima E. (2016). A terápiás hypothermia szerepe a postresuscitatiós ellátásban - irodalmi áttekintés és saját tapasztalatok [The role of therapeutic hypothermia in postresuscitation care - review of the literature and personal experience]. ORVOSI HETILAP, 157: 611–617.
- 32. Becker D, Kosztin A, Barczi G, Geller L, Heltai K, Zima E, Merkely B. (2015). A primer ellátó hatása az ST-elevációs miokardiális infarktusos betegek hosszú távú kimenetelére. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 45:65.
- 33. Barczi G, Becker D, Heltai K, Kiss L, Tabori L, Zima E, Merkely B. (2014). Intraaortikus ballonpumpa kezelés kardiogén sokkal szövődött miokardiális infarktus esetén – kinek segít? CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 44: 70.

- 34. Becker D, Móri A, Bárczi G, Vágó H, Szenczi O, Berta B, Merkely B. (2014). The magnitude of percutaneous coronary intervention treatment in high and medium risk non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome. COR ET VASA, 56: 430–433.
- 35. Berta B, Jambrik Z, Kohar K, Szabo G, Ruzsa Z, Molnar L, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2014). Efficacy of drug-eluting balloon in patients with bare-metal or drugeluting stent restenosis. HELLENIC JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY, 55: 369– 377.
- 36. Vágó H, Tóth A, Czimbalmos C, Suhai F, Kecskés K, Heltai K, Bárczi G, Merkely, B. (2014). Culprit lézió nélküli ST-elevációs miokardiális infarktus differenciáldiagnosztikája szív mágneses rezonanciavizsgálat segítségével. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 44: 300–305.
- 37. Barczi G, Becker D, Jambrik Z, Szabo G, Heltai K, Zima E, Merkely B. (2013). Invazív kezelésben részesült akut miokardiális infarktusos betegek rövid- és középtávú mortalitását befolyásoló tényezők. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 43: 96.
- Bárczi G. (2013). Gyógyszerek hatása a szívfrekvenciára, a vérnyomásra, az EKG-ra és a fizikai terhelhetőségre. FIZIOTERÁPIA, 22: 22–24.
- 39. Becker D, Barczi G, Szabo G, Vago, H, Apor A, Heltai K, Merkely B. (2013). Primer percutan koronáriaintervencióra kerülő betegek késlekedését befolyásoló tényezők és a késés hatása a halálozásra. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 43: B96.
- 40. Berta B, Ruzsa Z, Barczi G, Becker D, Geller L, Jambrik Z., Merkely B. (2013). Long-Term Clinical Follow-Up after Drug-Eluting Stent Implantation for Bare Metal In-Stent Restenosis. JOURNAL OF INTERVENTIONAL CARDIOLOGY, 26: 271–277.
- 41. Bárczi G, Becker D, Balogh O, Jambrik Z, Szabó G, Zima E, Merkely B. (2012). Invazív kezelésben részesült st-elevációval nem járó akut koronária szindrómás és st-elevációs miokardiális infarktusos betegek rövid és középtávú prognózisának összehasonlítása. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 42: 5.

- 42. Becker D, Bárczi G, Szabó G, Jambrik Z, Zima E. (2012). The long-term results of the organized interventional STEMI care in the central-Hungarian region. CIRCULATION, 125: 666.
- 43. Becker D, Balogh O, Hajas Á, Bárczi G, Szabó G, Nagy A, Merkely B. (2012). Obesity paradox: the impact of body mass index on short- and mid-term mortality in patients with acute coronary syndrome. EUROPEAN HEART JOURNAL, 33: 1088.
- 44. Becker D, Maurovich-Horvat P, Jambrik Z, Barczi G, Merkely B. (2012). Metallic taste after coronary artery stent implantation. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY, 158: 30–31.
- 45. Berta B, Bárczi G, Becker D, Gellér L, Jambrik Z, Molnár L, Merkely B. (2012). Recurrent restenosis after drug-eluting stent implantation for bare metal in-stent restenosis. EUROPEAN HEART JOURNAL, 33: 556.
- 46. Merkely B, Bárczi G, Maurovich-Horvat, P. (2012). Egészséges érfaltól a trombózisig. Az V. Magyar Kardiovaszkuláris Konszenzus Konferencián elhangzott előadás írásos kivonata. METABOLIZMUS, 10:59–61.
- 47. Szelid Z, Bárczi G, Vágó H, Tóth A, Lux Á, Soós P, Merkely B. (2012). Right ventricular remodeling is associated with the sport discipline in Olympic water sport athletes. CIRCULATION, 125: 749–749.
- 48. Bárczi G. (2011). Szívbetegség és terhesség. ORVOSKÉPZÉS, 86: 115–117.
- 49. Berta B, Nardai S, Barczi G, Becker D, Geller L, Jambrik Z, Merkely B. (2011). Xience V registry - Study of Xience V Everolimus-eluting and Vision cobaltchromium coronary stent. EUROINTERVENTION, 7: M.
- 50. Merkely B, Bárczi G. (2011). Az ICD-kezelés szerepe a hirtelen szívhalál primer és szekunder prevenciójában. KARDIOVASZKULÁRIS PREVENCIÓ ÉS REHABILITÁCIÓ, 4: 33–36

- 51. Patti G, Barczi G, Orlic D, Mangiacapra F, Colonna G, Pasceri V, Di Sciascio G. (2011). Outcome Comparison of 600- and 300-mg Loading Doses of Clopidogrel in Patients Undergoing Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction Results From the ARMYDA-6 MI (Antiplatelet therapy for Reduction of MYocardial Damage during Angioplasty-Myocardial Infarction) Randomized Study. JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF CARDIOLOGY, 58: 1592–1599.
- 52. Vágó H, Tóth A, Takács P, Déri E, Suhai F, Édes E, Bárczi G, Merkely, B. (2011). Élsportolói normálértékek meghatározása és különböző sportágak kardiális hatásainak összehasonlítása szív mágneses rezonancia vizsgálat segítségével. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 41: 78–79.
- 53. Bárczi G, Maurovich-Horvat P. Merkely B. (2010). Fókuszban a vulnerábilis plakk a jelen és a közeljövő. METABOLIZMUS, 8: 143–146.
- 54. Berta B, Bárczi G, Becker D, Gellér L, Jambrik Z, Molnár L, Merkely B. (2010). Repeated restenosis after drug-eluting stent implantation for bare metal in-stent restenosis. JOURNAL FUR KARDIOLOGIE, 17: 18.
- 55. Merkely B, Édes E, Apor A, Kutyifa V, Kiss O, Tóth A, Bárczi G, Vágó, H. (2010). Sportolók és élsportolók kardiológiai szűrése. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 40: 99.
- 56. Merkely B, Bárczi G. (2010). Antilipémiás kezelés akut koronária szindrómát követően. METABOLIZMUS, 8: 81–83.
- 57. Vágó H, Tóth A, Takács P, Bárczi G, Édes E, Gellér L, & Merkely, B. (2010). Szív mágneses rezonancia vizsgálat szerepe élsportolók hirtelen szívhalálának megelőzésében. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 40: O19.
- 58. Bárczi G. (2009). Az Európai Kardiológus Társaság Kongresszusa. LEGE ARTIS MEDICINAE, 19: 615–616.
- 59. Becker D, Soós P, Berta B, Nagy A, Fülöp G, Szabó G, Bárczi G, Merkely B. (2009). Significance of off-hours in a centralized primary percutaneous coronary intervention network. CROATIAN MEDICAL JOURNAL, 50: 476–482.
- 60. Becker D, Maurovich-Horvat P, Barczi G, Szabo G, Fulop G, Nagy A, Merkely,
  B. (2009). Life after coronary stent thrombosis. MEDICAL SCIENCE MONITOR, 15: 236-241.

- 61. Soos P, Becker D, Barczi G, Szabo G, Zima E, Fulop G, Merkely B. (2009). Levosimendan therapy does not improve survival of post-resuscitation cardiogenic shock patients. CRITICAL CARE, 13:172.
- 62. Soós P, Becker D, Szabó G, Fülöp G, Gellér L, Zima E, Bárczi G, Merkely, B. (2008) Long term results of levosimendan therapy on patients with acute coronary syndrome and cardiogenic shock. JOURNAL OF CARDIAC FAILURE, 14: 115.
- Barczi G, Merkely B. (2007). A koszorúérbetegség szekunder prevenciója. LEGE ARTIS MEDICINAE, 17: 675–679.
- Bárczi G., Merkely B. (2007). Kardiovaszkuláris eseményen átesett betegek statinkezelése napjainkban. HÁZIORVOS TOVÁBBKÉPZŐ SZEMLE, 12: 433– 437.
- 65. Merkely B, Bárczi G, Becker D. (2007). Sztatinok az akut koronária szindróma kezelésében. MAGYAR BELORVOSI ARCHIVUM, 60: 293–297.
- 66. Szűcs A, Bárczi G, Fülöp G, Becker D, Apor A, Gellér L, Merkely, B. (2007). Azonnal végzett pericardiocentézis csökkenti az acut pericardialis tamponád mortalitását koronaria intervenciót követően. CARDIOLOGIA HUNGARICA, 37:12.
- Bárczi G, Thury A, Merkely B. (2006). Mit kell tudni a vulnerábilis pakkról? -Akut koronária szindróma és erőteljes statinterápia. METABOLIZMUS, 4: 28– 31.
- Becker D, Fülöp G, Szabó G, Bárczi G, Gellér L, Molnár L, Merkely B. (2006). Importance of time of day and day of week in the treatment of ST-elevation myocardial infarction with primary PCI. EUROPEAN HEART JOURNAL, 27: 908.
- 69. Janosi A, Laszik A, Barczi G, Keller E. (2004). Arrhythmias of a sudden traumatic death. JOURNAL OF ELECTROCARDIOLOGY, 37: 227–230.
- 70. Jánosi A, Bárczi G, Kiss B, Becker D. (2002). A gépjárművezetői alkalmasság megítéléséről - egy eset tanulsága kapcsán [Evaluation of fitness to drive-conclusions after a case report]. ORVOSI HETILAP, 143: 2781–2788.

#### 9. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people who have helped me undertake this research:

Professor Béla Merkely MD who is not only the program coordinator at my chosen PhD school, but my chief who took me into his outstanding cardiovascular center, gifted his confidence, taught me cardiology and involved me in many inspiring activities.

Professor Dávid Becker MD who is not only my supervisor in this research, but my friend. Besides research approach and practical medicine, I could learn from him the respect of human dignity in every circumstance.

Attila Oláh MD who supported me steadily throughout my work from publication to dissertation.

Special thanks to András Zóka MD with whom I started to deal with this topic and helped me a lot with collecting data and analyzing it.

I also would like to express my thank to Zoltán Ruzsa MD, Hajnalka Vágó MD, Nóra Sydó MD, Sára Papp MD, Csilla Czimbalmos MD, Réka Skoda MD, Zoltán Jambrik MD, Pál Maurovich-Horvat, György Szabó MD, Balázs Berta MD. Alex Ali Sayour MD, Tímea Teszák MD. I cannot forgive their advice and assistance.

Professor András Jánosi MD and Teodóra Szilárd MD were the most helpful at the beginning of my research and clinical career.

My colleagues at Semmelweis University Heart and Vascular center, especially those doctors, nurses and administrative staff who work in the Coronary Care Unit, Cath Lab or outpatient clinic.

Finally, my parents who raised my siblings and me with unwavering faith. My beautiful wife Tímea Balatoni MD, our children Kristóf and Márk who had been given to me as partners without any considerable merits.